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Closure of Integrity Committee Case 22-003 
 
Dear Mr. Kerner: 
 

The Integrity Committee (IC) of the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and 
Efficiency reviewed allegations of wrongdoing referred by your office on September 24, 2021, 
involving Mr. Michael Missal, Inspector General (IG), U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
Office of Inspector General (VA OIG).  The complaint alleges IG Missal terminated a long-
standing interagency reimbursement agreement (IAA) between the VA and the OIG, which 
wrongfully allowed the VA OIG to assume and conduct programmatic contract audits and drug 
pricing compliance reviews.  Specifically, the complaint alleges that: 
 

1)  In violation of the IG Act,1 the VA OIG is performing pre- and post- award contract 
reviews/audits of Federal Supply Schedule proposals, sole source 38 U.S.C. § 8153 proposals, 
and construction proposals as well as audits of claims and change orders, and other contract 
audits requested by VA contracting officers, and 
 

2)  In violation of the IG Act and 38 U.S.C. § 8126,2 the VA OIG is performing drug 
pricing compliance reviews. 
  

The IC is charged by statute to receive, review, and investigate, where appropriate, 
allegations of misconduct made against IGs and designated members of an IG's staff (Covered 
Persons).3  The IC takes action on allegations of wrongdoing that involve abuse of authority in 
 
  

 
1  Section 2 of the IG Act limits OIG duties to the oversight of programs and operations; Section 9(a)(2) of the IG 
Act prohibits transferring program functions to OIGs. 
2  38 U.S.C. 8126 states, in order to determine the accuracy of a drug price, the Secretary of the VA may audit the 
relevant records of the manufacturer or of any wholesaler that distributes the drug and may delegate the authority to 
audit such records to the Department, the Department of Defense, the Public Health Service, including the Indian 
Health Service, or the Coast Guard. 
3  Section 11(d) of the IG Act. 
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the exercise of official duties or while acting under color of office; substantial misconduct, such 
as gross mismanagement, gross waste of funds, or a substantial violation of law, rule, or 
regulation; or conduct that undermines the independence or integrity reasonably expected of such 
persons.4   
 

The IG Act of 1978 transferred certain agency offices, functions, powers, and duties to 
their respective OIGs.  One such office included the Veterans Administration’s Office of Audits, 
which was transferred to the VA OIG along with its responsibilities and funding, including the 
external contract audit program.5  In 1988, the VA sought to change how the external contract 
audit program was funded by using new VA accounts and appropriations, which could only 
occur if the responsibility for administering the program was transferred from the OIG back to 
the VA.6  In 1989, the VA Secretary moved the external contract audit program from the OIG to 
an acquisition program office within the VA.7 
 

In 1993, the VA OIG entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the VA 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction (OALC), the office responsible for the 
external contract audit program.  Under the MOU, the VA OIG Office of Contract Review 
(OCR) would conduct external contract audits for the OALC and other VA offices on a 
reimbursable basis.  The MOU was renewed annually and evolved into the IAA referenced in the 
complaint.8 
 

On May 25, 2017, IG Missal informed Congress that he had severed the MOU with the 
OALC to strengthen the OIG's independence and stated the VA OIG would be supporting the 
OCR directly from its appropriations.9  The cancellation of the IAA ensured that the VA could 
no longer direct the OCR’s actions.  IG Missal also notified Congress when he consolidated the 
VA OIG’s audit and audit-related functions and realigned the OCR under the OIG’s Office of 
Audits and Evaluations to streamline the OIG’s organizational structure and enhance 
productivity.10   
 

 
4  Integrity Committee Policies and Procedures – 2018 (ICP&P), section 7.A. 
5  Section 9(a)(1)(U). See also VA General Counsel Memorandum Request for Opinion Regarding 
Reimbursable Payments to the OIG by the Supply Fund (Oct. 11, 1996) (GC Memo., Oct. 11, 1996). The external 
contract audit program consisted of contract audits requested by the agency’s contract officers or mandated by 
federal acquisition regulations and statutes. 
6  See GC Memo., Mar. 5, 1989; see also GC Memo., Oct. 11, 1996. 
7  See id. Since 1989, the VA office responsible for the external contract audit program has changed; in 2017, the 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction (OALC) had this responsibility and was party to the now-
canceled IAA. 
8  The IAA was modified overtime to include reviews of drug pricing compliance, pre-awards of healthcare resource 
contracts and pre-awards of construction contracts as well as audits of claims and change orders, and other contract 
audits requested by VA contracting officers or the OGC. 
9  IG Letter to Congress, dated May 25, 2017. 
10  IG Letter to Congress, dated August 18, 2020. 
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The complainant asserts IG Missal’s actions have allowed the VA OIG to assume and 
conduct programmatic contract audits and drug pricing compliance reviews in violation of 38 
U.S.C. § 8126 and the IG Act.  The IC found no evidence to support these allegations. 

 
The IG Act established OIGs to create independent and objective units with the duty and 

responsibility “to provide policy direction for and to conduct, supervise, and coordinate audits 
and investigations relating to the programs and operations of such establishment.”11  Section 
6(a)(2) of the Act gives OIGs broad authority to conduct such reviews and investigations as the 
IG deems necessary or desirable. 
 

By cancelling the IAA, IG Missal removed the VA’s ability to exercise some authority 
over the OIG’s contract review process.  He also notified Congress of his actions and the reasons 
behind his decision.  Since that time, the VA OIG has self-funded the program and exercised 
discretion with respect to its contract reviews.  Furthermore, the pre- and post-award reviews the 
OIG conducts of VA contracts is no different in concept than any other audit conducted by the 
OIG.  VA OIG reviews information about the contract proposal or the activities under the 
contract and makes recommendations to VA contracting officers about price fairness or 
compliance with contract terms; it remains the VA’s responsibility to act on VA OIG’s 
recommendations. The VA OIG does not negotiate prices or award contracts. Moreover, the VA 
OIG is not unique in undertaking these types of pre- and post-award reviews of Department 
contracts; GSA OIG conducts similar pre- and post-award reviews of GSA contracts.12  The IC 
finds no evidence to support the claim that VA OIG’s contract review process is in violation of 
the IG Act.   
 

The IC also finds the allegation that IG Missal’s actions violated 38 USC § 8126 to be 
similarly unsupported.  We presume the reference is to section 8126(e)(3), which provides 
generally that the Secretary may audit the records of manufacturers of prescription drugs 
purchased by the Department. It also provides that the Secretary may delegate that authority to 
certain other agencies who purchase drugs from such manufacturers. However, that provision 
does not preclude the Secretary from relying on the OIG or another office of the VA to conduct 
such audits nor does it supersede the authorities inherent in the OIG to conduct such reviews 
pursuant to the IG Act.  The OIG clearly has the statutory authority to audit VA contracts, 
regardless of any provision of title 38 that may direct the Secretary to do the same.  
 

After thoroughly reviewing the allegations and the supporting information provided, the 
IC found no evidence that IG Missal violated the IG Act or 38 U.S.C. §8126.  Accordingly, 
pursuant to Integrity Committee Policies and Procedures – 2018, paragraph 7.C., the IC 
 
  

 
11  Section 2 and Section 4 of the IG Act. 
12  IG Missal contacted the GSA OIG about the operations of their program when he was evaluating whether to 
terminate the IAA.  
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 determined that further investigation into IG Missal is not warranted and decided to close this 
matter.  This determination was made solely pursuant to the IC’s authorities and is not binding 
on any collateral or other proceeding.  Thank you for submitting this matter to the IC.  
 

Sincerely, 
 

 
 

Kevin H. Winters 
Chairperson 
Integrity Committee 


